STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Jasper County

Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NATHANIEL WRIGHT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000272

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to relieve the public defender office from representing Appellant at his trial for murder because of a conflict of interest where the public defender's supervisor represented one of the State's witnesses and negotiated a reduction in sentence for the witnesses in exchange for his statement and testimony against Appellant and where the public defender also represented the deceased?
  
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to grant a continuance to allow private counsel to prepare for trial when counsel had been retained and the public defender office operated under a conflict of interest?

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

In November of 2014, the Jasper County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Wright for murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime and failure to stop for a blue light, indictments #2014-GS-27-540, 541, 542. On February 8, 2016, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Michael G. Nettles and pled guilty to failure to stop for a blue light and proceeded to jury trial on the murder and weapons charges. Stephanie Smart-Gittings and Jared Newman represented Appellant. Mary Jones prosecuted the case. The jury returned with a verdict of guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter and the weapon charge. Judge Nettles sentenced Appellant to twenty three (23) years for voluntary manslaughter, five (5) years concurrent for the weapons charge and three (3) years concurrent for failure to stop for a blue light. A timely notice of intent to appeal was filed on February 12, 2016. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENTS

1. **The trial judge erred in refusing to relieve the public defender office from representing Appellant at his trial for murder because of a conflict of interest where the public defender's supervisor represented one of the State's witnesses and negotiated a reduction in sentence for the witnesses in exchange for his statement and testimony against Appellant and where the public defender also represented the deceased.**

The jury found Appellant guilty of voluntary manslaughter in connection with the fatal shooting of Appellant's brother, Maurice Wright. Prior to trial the public defender appointed to represent Appellant, Stephanie Smart-Gittings, brought the conflict issue to the attention of the trial judge. (R. pp. 11-35). The State had not disclosed the identity of one of its witnesses until the week before trial. (R. pp. 11-12). When the witness's identity was disclosed, the public defender learned that the witness, Antoine Drake, was represented by her direct supervisor in the public defender office, Stephen Plexico. (R. p. 14, line 21 – p. 15, 16, 17 lines 1-20). The public defender told the judge, "Mr. Plexico brokered – negotiated a deal with the State regarding this particular confidential witness and Mr. Plexico's witness will be testifying against Mr. Wright [Appellant] during the course of this trial." (R. p. 15, lines 3-6).

The witness was initially tried in his absence and sentenced to two years for drug charges. (R. p. 323, lines 16-24). Mr. Plexico was successful in having the sentence reduced to probation in exchange for witness Drake's statement and testimony against Appellant. (R. p. 323, line 25 – p. 354, lines 1-15). Drake claimed to have witnessed the shooting but did not provide a statement to law enforcement until he was arrested on the unrelated charges. (R. p. 326, lines 18-21). Another witness, Sadie Robinson-Jackson, testified that the day after the shooting Drake told her that he was high on drugs and alcohol and passed out at the time of the shooting. (R. p. 360, line 7 – p. 391, lines 1-4).

The judge asked the Chief Public Defender for the Fourteenth Circuit, Gene Hood, to address Rule 407, SCACR, Rules of Prof. Conduct, Rule 1.10(e). (R. p. 17, lines 21-25). Mr.

Hood told the judge:

My understanding of this particular situation of a Chinese wall, which is basically what we're talking about here today, is that if you have an office that has two cases and one case is going to be perhaps testifying against the other case, that the attorneys can successfully build a Chinese wall to prevent any – any problems as far as one knowing things about the other one's case and things of that nature. As long as you keep them separated, you can proceed like that. The issue in this particular case comes down to a supervisor who is going to – his client is going to testify against Ms. Smart's client and, not only that, they were both in the same office.

(R. p. 18, lines 11-22).

Mr. Hood stated that he had attorneys in three different counties, Jasper, Hampton and Allendale, but that Ms. Smart-Gittings and Mr. Plexico were in the same office in Hampton County, shared the same investigator and Mr. Plexico was Ms. Smart-Gittings' supervisor. (R. p. 19, lines 5-20). Later Mr. Hood told the judge, "It's the – it's the appearance of impropriety perhaps that—that really makes this a bad – a bad situation to be in and one that I avoid under any circumstances. I have contract attorneys that could have taken this case and everything else had we known some time ago, but we just found out about it and, you know, now we're stuck with going forward." (R. p. 23, lines 10-16).

The judge heard testimony from Robert Hughes, the public defender in Jasper County who transferred Appellant's case to Ms. Smart-Gittings due to a conflict (R. p. 19, lines 12-17), and from Mr. Plexico. (R. pp. 20-21). Ms. Smart-Gittings told the judge she had discussed the conflict issue with her client. (R. p. 26, lines 16-18). The judge then asked, "Does he understand that there conceivably could be a potential conflict, which I'm not so certain there is a conflict, but to the extent that there could be, what is your client's preference? Does he want you to

represent him or not?" (R. p. 26, lines 19-23). Ms. Smart-Giddings answered, "He does not, Your Honor." (R. p. 26, line 24).

The judge referenced Rule 1.10(e) of the Rules of Professional Conduct and found no conflict. (R. pp. 27-29). The judge found that Ms. Smart-Giddings was not involved in the representation of State's witness, Drake, and that she had not received confidential or privileged information. (R. p. 27, line 15 – p. 28, lines 1-12). Ms. Smart-Giddings noted that the rule indicates that there is not a conflict if the lawyer is screened in a timely manner from access to confidential information relating to and from any participation in the representation of the other client. (R. p. 29, lines 19-23). She further noted that she sought and received legal advice about Appellant's case from her supervisor, Mr. Plexico. (R. p. 29, line 25, p. 30, p. 31, lines 1-11). The judge responded, "The distinguishing factor is whether or not you received confidential information, not whether or not y'all had scholarly discussions about the law." (R. p. 31, lines 12-14).

In addition to the conflict involving Mr. Plexico's representation of State's witness Drake, Ms. Smart-Giddings also told the judge that she represented the deceased brother on three counts of assault and battery first degree. (R. p. 33, line 11 – p. 34, lines 1-10). Ms. Smart-Giddings told the judge that the dual representation created a conflict because of the need to explore the reputation for violence of the deceased. (R. p. 34, lines 22-23). The judge stated that he would address admissibility of the reputation for violence of the deceased at the appropriate time. (R. p. 35, lines 11-12). The trial judge erred in refusing to relieve the public defender from representation of the Appellant based on conflicts of interests.

The public defender office's representation of witness Drake was directly adverse to the office's representation of Appellant. The present case is complicated by the fact that the State

withheld the identity of the witness until the week before trial. The public defender office was unable to construct a “Chinese Wall” when the office was unaware that Drake was going to be a witness against Appellant until the week before trial.

Rule 1.7(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct provides:

Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest. A concurrent conflict of interest exists if:

- (1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client; or
- (2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client, a former client or a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer.

Rule 407, SCACR.

Rule 1.10(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct deals with the imputation of conflicts and provides:

While lawyers are associated in a firm, none of them shall knowingly represent a client when any one of them practicing alone would be prohibited from doing so by Rules 1.7, 1.8(c), or 1.9, unless the prohibition is based on a personal interest of the prohibited lawyer and does not present a significant risk of materially limiting the representation of the client by the remaining lawyers in the firm.

Rule 407, SCACR.

Rule 1.10(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct, however, provides an exception for public defender offices stating:

A lawyer representing a client of a public defender office, legal services association, or similar program serving indigent clients shall not be disqualified under this Rule because of the program's representation of another client in the same or a substantially related matter if:

- (1) the lawyer is screened in a timely manner from access to confidential information relating to and from any participation in the representation of the other client; and

(2) the lawyer retains authority over the objectives of the representation pursuant to Rule 5.4(c).

Rule 407, SCACR.

Rule 1.0(n) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct defines screened as:

“Screened” denotes the isolation of a lawyer from any participation in a matter through the timely imposition of procedures within a firm that are reasonably adequate under the circumstances to protect information that the isolated lawyer is obligated to protect under these Rules or other law.

Rule 407, SCACR.

There was no screening or Chinese wall in the present case because the public defender office was unaware of the identity of witness Drake and unaware of the conflict. The chief public defender advised the judge that if he had known of the conflict, he would have assigned one of the cases to a contract attorney outside of the public defender office. (R. p. 23, lines 10-16).

The conflict in the public defender office constituted an actual conflict. An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendants. Fuller v. State, 347 S.C. 630, 557 S.E.2d 664 (2001); See also Zuck v. State of Alabama, 588 F.2d 436, 439 (5th Cir.1979). Under the imputation of conflicts, the public defender office owed a duty to witness Drake that was adverse to Appellant. In order for this dual representation not to constitute an actual conflict, there needed to be proper screening, according to the ethical rules. The screening did not take place, as required, because the office was unaware of the identity of the witness and unaware of the conflict. The second comment to Rule 1.7 states that the first thing to do in the resolution of a conflict of interest problem is to clearly identify the clients. The public defender in the present case identified the conflict a week before trial when the State disclosed the name of the witness. The public defender brought the

conflict to the trial judge's attention prior to trial. The trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to relieve the public defender office based on the conflict created by the dual representation of both Appellant and witness Drake without proper screening.

“[A] motion to relieve counsel is addressed to the discretion of the trial judge and will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Graddick, 345 S.C. 383, 385, 548 S.E.2d 210, 211 (2001) (citation omitted). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). The trial judge's refusal to relieve the public defender office is controlled by an error of law. The Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel encompasses the right to representation by an attorney who does not owe conflicting duties to other defendants. Holloway v. Arkansas, 435 U.S. 475, 98 S.Ct. 1173, 55 L.Ed.2d 426 (1978). Where counsel is guaranteed, the client has the right to conflict-free representation. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980). Violation of this principle is grounds for reversal. Id. A defendant need not demonstrate prejudice if there is an actual conflict of interest. State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 153, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005). The trial judge's refusal to relieve the public defender office violated Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to conflict-free representation and the violation requires reversal.

The present case is distinguished from Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 315 S.E.2d 809 (1984). In Duncan the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

This is a case of concurrent representation. The Public Defender's Office represented both Duncan and Leroy Davis, a witness against Duncan. Steve Henry, an Assistant Public Defender, made a conscious decision not to reveal the prior inconsistent statement of Davis to Duncan or his attorney. Henry, representing Davis on an unrelated murder charge, felt he had an ethical duty not to reveal the statement. Thus, Henry states that he acted under what he perceived to be a conflict of interest.

This court is unable to discern the conflict. Duncan and Henry have done no more than state in a conclusory fashion that there was a conflict of interest. There is no evidence in the record to support the conclusion. Revealing the statement could not have harmed Davis because the Solicitor had it already. Henry's proper action should have been to go to the trial judge and explain the situation to him and ask guidance.

Duncan v. State, 281 S.C. 435, 438-39, 315 S.E.2d 809, 811 (1984). In the present case the conflict was clear. The police did not have a statement from witness Drake until the public defender representing Drake negotiated a reduction in sentence in exchange for a statement and testimony against Appellant. When the public defender representing Appellant learned of the conflict, she did as the Court in Duncan suggested and brought the conflict to the trial judge's attention.

A second actual conflict existed as a result of the public defender's representation of both Appellant and the deceased. The deceased was a former client. Rule 1.9 of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct provides:

A lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter represent another person in the same or a substantially related matter in which that person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless the former client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing.

Rule 407, SCACR. Appellant's interests were materially adverse to the interests of the former deceased client, especially in light of the fact that Appellant argued self-defense and elicited testimony about the deceased's reputation for violence. (R. pp. 358-359). The trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to relieve the public defender based on the conflict created by the dual representation of both Appellant and the deceased.

The trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to relieve the public defender office. The public defender office operated under an actual conflict of interest in representing both Appellant and witness Drake without proper screening. Additionally, the public defender operated under

an actual conflict of interest in representing Appellant and the deceased. The trial judge's failure to relieve the public defender office was an error of law because the failure violated Appellant's Sixth Amendment right to conflict-free representation. The failure to provide conflict-free representation requires reversal.

**2. The trial judge erred in refusing to grant a continuance to allow private counsel to prepare for trial when counsel had been retained and the public defender office operated under a conflict of interest?**

Prior to trial, private counsel Jared Newman advised the trial judge that a family member of Appellant contacted him about representation of Appellant the week before and that he was holding funds in trust as the family was able to retain him. (R. p. 31, line 19 – p. 32, line 1). Private counsel, however, indicated that due to the complicated nature of the case, he would not be able to immediately take over representation. (R. p. 32, lines 2-11). The judge then asked private counsel, "I question to you is what's your role in the case here today? We're going forward. What's your role?" (R. p. 32, lines 12-13). Private counsel indicated that he needed to talk with Appellant but suggested that he could possibly act as co-counsel. (R. p. 32, lines 14-19). After talking with Appellant, private counsel advised the judge that Appellant wanted private counsel only to represent him. (R. p. 32, lines 20-25). The judge then stated, "Well, that's not going to happen because --" (R. p. 33, line 1). The judge then stated, "Number one, you're not – you're not willing to do that and the public defender is indeed representing him by order of this Court and I found that the rules don't mandate that she be conflicted out. So once again, I ask you, what do you want to do?" (R. p. 33, lines 3-7). The judge allowed private counsel to serve as co-counsel. (R. p. 33, lines 8-10). The judge erred in refusing to grant a continuance.

First, although private counsel did not specifically ask for a continuance on the record, the public defender moved for a continuance on other grounds (R. p. 10, line 22 – p. 11- 14) and the judge was aware of the conflict issues with the public defender office. Second, the record reflects that there was an earlier conference call making the judge aware that private counsel had just been hired but could not be prepared to try the murder case in one week of time. (R. p. 31, line 19 – p. 32, lines 1-9). The record also reflects that that the judge was not going to continue the case. The trial judge specifically stated to private counsel, “I question to you is what’s your role in the case here today? **We’re going forward.** What’s your role?” (R. p. 32, lines 12-13) (emphasis added). It would have been futile for private counsel to move for a continuance. In State v. McDaniel, 320 S.C. 33, 37, 462 S.E.2d 882, 884 (Ct. App. 1995), the South Carolina Court of Appeals wrote, “So long as the judge had an opportunity to rule on an issue, and did so, it was “not incumbent upon defense counsel to harass the judge by parading the issue before him again.” Dunn v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co., 311 S.C. 43, 46, 426 S.E.2d 756, 758 (1993); see also State v. Pace, 316 S.C. 71, 447 S.E.2d 186 (1994) (counsel's failure to object did not waive issue where trial judge's remarks were such that any objection would have been futile). The trial judge in the present case had the opportunity to grant a continuance but erroneously refused to do so. The issue is preserved for appellate review.

In State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 459, 469 S.E.2d 49, 51–52 (1996), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote: