STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-000272

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

NATHANIEL WRIGHT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC MCDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, South Carolina 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

In Duncan v. State, the South Carolina Supreme Court set forth the following test to determine when an actual conflict of interest occurs:

[W]hen a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties. If a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, then an actual conflict exists. The interests of the other client and the defendant are sufficiently adverse if it is shown that the attorney owes a duty to the defendant to take some action that could be detrimental to his other client. An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant's.

Duncan, 281 S.C. at 438, 315 S.E.2d at 811 (citing Zuck v. State of Alabama, 588 F.2d 436, 439 (5th Cir. 1979)). In Duncan, the appeal from the denial of a post-conviction relief action, Duncan asserted, amongst other allegations, that the attorneys within the public defender office who represented him acted under a conflict of interest resulting in a denial of his sixth amendment right to counsel because the public defender office also represented Leroy Davis, a witness who testified against him. Duncan, 281 S.C. at 438, 315 S.E.2d at 811. In its opinion, the Duncan Court wrote:

This is a case of concurrent representation. The Public Defender's Office represented both Duncan and Leroy Davis, a witness against Duncan. Steve Henry, an Assistant Public Defender, made a conscious decision not to reveal the prior inconsistent statement of Davis to Duncan or his attorney. Henry, representing Davis on an unrelated murder charge, felt he had an ethical duty not to reveal the statement. Thus, Henry states that he acted under what he perceived to be a conflict of interest.

Id. However, the Duncan Court found more than a conclusory statement of a perceived conflict of interest is needed in cases of concurrent representation at public defender offices and there must be some evidence in the record to establish an actual conflict of interest. Duncan, 281 S.C. at 438, 315 S.E.2d at 811. The Court found Duncan failed to show an actual conflict of interest existed from this dual representation of a defendant and witness by the public defender office. Id.

In the present case, the trial court properly refused to relieve co-counsel Smart-Gittings, or more generally, the public defender office, from Appellant's case because there was no actual conflict of interest requiring removal. Contrary to his claims, Appellant had Smart-Gitting's complete loyalty and no conflict existed from either Plexico's representation of Drake or Smart-Gitting's former representation of decedent. Smart-Gittings had not discussed any confidential matters with Plexico or any other member of the public defender office pertaining to Appellant's case and she had not received any information that would give her an advantage or disadvantage in Appellant's case, as she assured the trial court when questioned along with her fellow public defenders. Smart-Gittings agreed with the trial court that she was bound by ethical obligations to take direction from her client that were in his best interest—not in the interest of the public defender office. Similar to Duncan, Appellant's claims are no more than a conclusory statement of perceived conflicts of interest without any evidence in the record to support such a conclusion.

Furthermore, there is nothing in the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct that required removal of Smart-Gittings from Appellant's case. Rule 1.7(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct pertains to conflicts of interest with current clients and provides:

Except as provided in paragraph (b), a lawyer shall not represent a client if the representation involves a concurrent conflict of interest. A concurrent conflict of interest exists if: (1) the representation of one client will be directly adverse to another client; or (2) there is a significant risk that the representation of one or more clients will be materially limited by the lawyer's

responsibilities to another client, a former client or a third person or by a personal interest of the lawyer.

Rule 407, SCACR. Rule 1.10(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct addresses the imputation of conflicts of interest to other lawyers in a firm and provides:

While lawyers are associated in a firm, none of them shall knowingly represent a client when any one of them practicing alone would be prohibited from doing so by Rules 1.7, 1.8(c), or 1.9, unless the prohibition is based on a personal interest of the prohibited lawyer and does not present a significant risk of materially limiting the representation of the client by the remaining lawyers in the firm.

Rule 407, SCACR. Rule 1.10(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct affords an exception for public defender offices and provides:

A lawyer representing a client of a public defender office, legal services association, or similar program serving indigent clients shall not be disqualified under this Rule because of the program's representation of another client in the same or a substantially related matter if: (1) the lawyer is screened in a timely manner from access to confidential information relating to and from any participation in the representation of the other client; and (2) the lawyer retains authority over the objectives of the representation pursuant to Rule 5.4(c).

Rule 407, SCACR.

Appellant asserts that because there was no timely screening to avoid a potential conflict from the dual representation of Appellant and Drake by the public defender office, an actual conflict could not be avoided and the trial court should have relieved Smart-Gittings. Appellant appears to be arguing that the lack of a timely screening in this case means an actual conflict of interest should be presumed. However, as discussed previously, there was no actual conflict in the present case—no confidential information was shared between Smart-Gittings and Plexico and Smart-Gittings's loyalty lied exclusively with Appellant.

Similarly, Rule 1.9(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Professional Conduct does not require the removal of Smart-Gittings from Appellant's case based on her brief representation of decedent on unrelated charges. Pursuant to Rule 1.9(a), "[a] lawyer who has formerly represented a client in a matter shall not thereafter represent another person in the same or a substantially related matter in which that person's interests are materially adverse to the interests of the former client unless the former client gives informed consent, confirmed in writing." Rule 407, SCACR. In the present case, Smart-Gittings had previously represented decedent on unresolved charges still pending at the time of his death and although she had not been formally relieved as counsel, decedent had retained private counsel to handle the matter. Decedent's charges were wholly unrelated to Appellant's case and there were no conflicting interests between her former, short-lived representation of decedent and her current representation of Appellant. There was no actual conflict of interest requiring Smart-Gittings's removal.

Moreover, it is important to note that Appellant was also represented by counsel from the private bar, Jared Newman, who had no relationship whatsoever to the public defender office. Newman handled the vast majority of Appellant's trial, including a vigorous cross-examination of Drake and the introduction of numerous instances of decedent's reputation for violence.

Appellant's assertions that his Sixth Amendment right to conflict-free counsel was compromised are not supported by the record. The trial court properly determined there was no actual conflict of interest and refused to relieve Smart-Gittings. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

II. Appellant's appellate challenge to the trial court's refusal to grant a continuance to allow private counsel to prepare for trial is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant failed to raise such ground at trial. Additionally, notwithstanding those preservation concerns, the trial court could not have abused its broad discretion because it declined to rule on Appellant's continuance motion. Moreover, Appellant has not presented sufficient grounds to establish he was entitled to a continuance to allow private counsel additional time to prepare for trial.

Before the jury was sworn, Appellant, through counsel Smart-Gittings, moved for a continuance to allow the defense additional time to review medical records and jail phone calls the State had recently provided and to investigate two witnesses the State had recently disclosed. When questioned by the trial court, Smart-Gittings acknowledged she had reviewed some of the materials over the weekend and agreed to review the remaining materials that evening. The trial court declined to rule on the continuance motion at that time. Smart-Gittings then addressed the purported conflict of interest issues and the trial court ruled no actual conflict of interest existed. Thereafter, Jared Newman, a member of the private bar, addressed the trial court and informed the court he had been contacted by Appellant's family last week about taking over Appellant's case and the retainer fee was currently being held in a trust account. Newman told the trial court he had spoken with Smart-Gittings about the case and reviewed the case file, but he was concerned about taking over the case without time to conduct his own full investigation. Crucially though, Newman did not ask for a continuance, but rather, asked the trial court if he could serve as co-counsel along with Smart-Gittings in accordance with Appellant's wishes. The trial court granted Appellant's request to have Newman serve as co-counsel alongside Smart-Gittings. Newman handled the vast majority of Appellant's case—all portions of the case other than the opening statement given by Smart-Gittings.

Now, on appeal, Appellant argues the trial court erred in refusing to grant a continuance to allow Newman to prepare for trial. Appellant contends the public defender office was

conflicted from representing Appellant as a matter of law, and therefore, the trial court's refusal to grant a continuance to allow Newman to prepare for trial constituted a reversible error of law. Initially, Appellant's appellate arguments are not preserved for this Court's review because Appellant did not move for a continuance based on these grounds before the lower court. Additionally, notwithstanding those preservation concerns, the trial court could not have abused its broad discretion because it declined to rule on Appellant's continuance motion made based upon other grounds. Moreover, Appellant has not presented sufficient grounds to establish he was entitled to a continuance to allow private counsel additional time to prepare for trial. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

As an initial matter, Appellant's argument the trial court erred in denying his motion for continuance to allow private counsel time to prepare for trial is not preserved for appellate review because the grounds raised in support of his continuance motion during trial were entirely different from the grounds Appellant is now raising on appeal. In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, the issue must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see JEAN HOEFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review). "If a party fails to properly object, the party is procedurally barred from raising the issue on appeal." State v. Johnson, 363 S.C. 53, 58-59, 609 S.E.2d 520, 523 (2005). "Imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). It is well

established that asserted errors not presented to the lower court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005).

In the case at bar, whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's continuance motion to allow Newman to prepare for trial is not preserved for appellate review because the grounds raised in support of his continuance motion at trial were entirely different than the grounds he is now asserting on appeal. Critically, during trial, Appellant moved for a continuance to allow him additional time to review discovery materials recently provided by the State; the trial court declined to rule upon this motion. Later, when Newman addressed the trial court, he did not move for a continuance to afford him additional time to prepare for Appellant's trial, but rather, requested the trial court allow him to act as co-counsel alongside Smart-Gittings. Appellant never moved for a continuance to allow Newman time to prepare for trial. Accordingly, it is not preserved for this Court's review. See State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) ("Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.")

Despite acknowledging that counsel never moved for a continuance on these grounds, Appellant claims the issue is preserved for this Court's review because the public defender had already moved for a continuance on other grounds and any additional grounds of argument would have been futile. However, this argument ignores one of the most fundamental requirements behind issue preservation—the appellant generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments. I'On, L.L.C., 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724. Here, Appellant never presented the arguments he now raises on appeal to the lower court, but instead argued for a continuance on entirely different grounds. Because he never afforded the trial court an opportunity to rule on these arguments, Appellant had failed to preserve them for this Court's

review. See Roche v. South Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm'n, 263 S.C. 451, 211 S.E.2d 243 (1975) (purpose of an appeal is to determine whether the trial court erroneously acted or failed to act and when appellant's contentions are not presented or passed on by the trial judge, such contentions will not be considered on appeal). Appellant's argument that the trial court erred for failing to grant a continuance to allow private counsel to prepare for trial was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot now appropriately be raised or addressed on appeal.

Notwithstanding Appellant's failure to raise his appellate argument that he was entitled to a continuance to allow Newman to prepare for trial, the trial court could not have abused its broad discretion by denying Appellant's continuance motion because the court never ruled on Appellant's continuance motion made on other grounds. The trial court's failure to rule upon that issue would clearly establish the issue was not properly preserved for appellate review in light of the fact an issue must be raised to **and** ruled upon before it can properly be raised and addressed on appeal. See State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) ("To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. **If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal.**" (emphasis added)); see also State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge."); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) ("Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed[.]").

Moreover, Appellant has not presented sufficient grounds to establish he was entitled to a continuance to allow private counsel additional time to prepare for trial. A decision on whether to grant or deny a motion for continuance rests in the sound discretion of the trial court. State v.

Yarborough, 363 S.C. 260, 266, 609 S.E.2d 592, 595 (Ct. App. 2005). Appellate courts in South Carolina typically show great deference to the trial court regarding these decisions. State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 435, 641 S.E.2d 912, 916 (Ct. App. 2007). The denial of a motion for continuance will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Ravenell, 387 S.C. 449, 455, 692 S.E.2d 554, 557 (Ct. App. 2010). “The granting or refusal of a motion for continuance is within the discretion of the trial judge and his disposition of such a motion will not be reversed on appeal unless it is shown that there was an abuse of discretion to the prejudice of appellant. . . . [R]eversals of refusal of continuance are about as rare as the proverbial hens’ teeth.” State v. Lytchfield, 230 S.C. 405, 409, 95 S.E.2d 857, 859 (1957) (emphasis added).

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